

Standards and datasets for reporting cancers

Datasets for the histopathological reporting of vulval neoplasms (3rd edition)

November 2010 – partial revision

Unique document number	G070				
Document name	Datasets for the histopathological reporting of vulval neoplasms				
Version number	3				
Produced by	Dr Laurence Brown and Professor Glenn McCluggage, on behalf of the College's Working Group on Cancer Services				
Date active	November 2010				
Date for review	November 2011				
Comments	This edition replaces the 1 st edition of the <i>Dataset for the histological</i> reporting of vulval biopsy specimens and vulvectomy specimens for vulval cancer (March 2001), and the 2 nd edition, <i>Dataset for histological reporting</i> of vulval neoplasms (June 2008).				
	Following a revision by the authors, a statement of proposed key changes for this edition was put on The Royal College of Pathologists' website for an abridged consultation from 18 October to 1 November 2010 (see Appendix D). We received ten emails of approval, three from people who were happy to leave the decision to the authors, and no further comments. The proposed changes have therefore been incorporated into this edition.				
	Dr Peter Cowling				
	Director of Communications				

The Royal College of Pathologists 2 Carlton House Terrace, London, SW1Y 5AF Tel: 020 7451 6700 Fax: 020 7451 6701 Web: <u>www.rcpath.org</u>

Registered charity in England and Wales, no. 261035 © 2010, The Royal College of Pathologists

This work is copyright. You may download, display, print and reproduce this document for your personal, non-commercial use. Apart from any use as permitted under the Copyright Act 1968 or as set out above, all other rights are reserved. Requests and inquiries concerning reproduction and rights should be addressed to The Royal College of Pathologists at the above address. First published: 2010





101110

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Clinical information required on the specimen request form	4
3	Preparation of specimen before dissection	5
4	Specimen handling and block selection	5
5	Core histological data items	6
6	Non-core data items	7
7	WHO classification and SNOMED codes of vulvar epithelial tumours and related lesions	7
8	Small biopsies	8
9	Frozen sections	8
10	Ancillary investigations	9
11	References	9
12	Acknowledgments1	2

Appendix A	Diagram to assist the orientation of specimens and selected blocks	13
Appendix B	FIGO staging of vulval carcinoma	14
Appendix C	Reporting proforma for vulval cancer resection specimens	15
Appendix D	Key changes made to this 2010 edition	17

1 Introduction

This is a revision of the vulval cancer dataset that was published in 2001. There has been an expansion of the clinico-pathological background and bibliography (up to June 2007), providing an evidence base for the expanded reporting proforma. The main changes in the proforma from 2001 are more precise specification of the nature of the submitted specimen, with more detailed measurements, expansion of the resection margin parameters, inclusion of Paget's disease, mention of lichen planus as a risk factor for vulval squamous carcinoma, more detail on nodal involvement and the status of the sentinel node. Basal cell carcinoma is listed.

In the past, TNM and FIGO staging of gynaecological cancers was recommended to allow standardisation of staging across all cancer sites, but surveys carried out on behalf of the British Association of Gynaecological Pathologists (BAGP) and British Gynaecological Cancer Society (BGCS) were overwhelmingly in favour of using FIGO staging alone for all gynaecological cancers, except cervical carcinoma.⁵⁹

In the accompanying text, more guidance has been given on measuring the depth of invasion.

A graphic has been provided to assist identification of the abnormal areas on the request form and to give a format for recording findings (Appendix A).

1.1 Background

Vulval cancer is a rare disease, with 996 cases resulting in 364 deaths in 2002 in the United Kingdom. This is the nineteenth most common cause of death from cancer in women in the UK,¹ with a crude incidence of 0.8 per 100 000. Most (more than 90%) vulval cancers are squamous carcinomas.² In elderly women, squamous carcinoma is usually human papillomavirus (HPV) negative, often associated with lichen sclerosus and squamous hyperplasia,³ and is often accompanied by differentiated VIN.⁴ In younger, usually premenopausal women, squamous carcinoma is often HPV related, associated with Bowenoid (warty) or basaloid VIN and associated with multifocal HPV associated disease of the cervix, vagina, perineum and anus.⁵

Adenocarcinoma of the vulva affects mainly women over 60 years, usually arising from Paget's disease with underlying carcinoma of a skin appendage in up to 10-20% of patients. Around 5% cases will have spread from local malignant disease of the anus, rectum, bladder or cervix.⁶⁻⁸

The prognosis of vulval carcinoma depends on the size of the lesion, depth of invasion,^{9–12} the number of involved lymph nodes, presence or absence of extranodal spread and proportion of node replaced by metastasis^{13,14} and the presence or absence of lymphovascular space involvement (LVSI).^{13,15} The depth of invasion is measured from the epithelial-stromal junction of the adjacent most superficial dermal papillae to the deepest point of invasion by tumour.¹⁶ Tumour grade is of questionable prognostic significance and most squamous carcinomas in elderly women are well differentiated.

30% of patients have lymph node metastasis at presentation. The pattern of lymph node metastasis is well established and predictable,¹⁷ with spread first to the ipsilateral superficial inguinal nodes¹⁸ and then to deep groin nodes, pelvic lymph nodes and distant sites. Five-year survival is affected by the number of nodes involved and whether involvement is unilateral (five-year survival: 60–70%) or bilateral (five-year survival: 25%). Extracapsular spread is an independent variable in two studies and may influence the decision on the type and dosage of post-operative radiotherapy.^{13,14} Midline disease requires bilateral node dissection.¹⁹ Lymphovascular space invasion (LVSI) is not an independent prognostic factor

but is a good marker of groin node metastasis: 88% with LVSI have nodal spread compared to 19% without LVSI.²⁰

Evidence is accruing that sentinel lymph node examination is a reliable indicator of inguinal node involvement,^{21,22} with a negative predictive value of 95–100%. Step/serial sectioning (ultrastaging), with or without immunohistochemistry, is currently under research. It has been shown to increase the yield of involved nodes that were negative on routine examination (4–11%), but as yet there has been no trial to assess the prognostic significance of this and there is no agreement as to whether this should form part of routine assessment.^{23–26} Until there is evidence that ultrastaging is relevant, sentinel nodes should be examined as detailed in the national breast screening recommendations.²⁷

The risk of lymph node metastasis is very low if the depth of invasion is less than or equal to 1 mm (FIGO stage 1a), allowing the option of curative local excision for both squamous and glandular lesions. Lymph node dissection may not be undertaken if invasion is less than 1 mm in a fully excised specimen.^{28–30}

Lichen sclerosus, especially if associated with squamous hyperplasia³¹ and erosive lichen planus,³² are linked to the later development of squamous carcinoma in older, HPV negative women. Recurrent disease is linked to persisting VIN and lichen sclerosus.³³ Recurrence of VIN is associated with involved margins, multifocal disease and genital warts.³⁴ Untreated and recurrent VIN has a high risk of progression to squamous carcinoma.³⁵ Basal cell carcinoma accounts for 2–28% of vulval cancers, depending on the population³⁶ and generally behaves as an indolent, occasionally locally aggressive neoplasm in elderly women (average age 70) with a propensity to recur if incompletely excised; metastasis and death are rare.^{37–41}

1.2 Stakeholder groups

The following organisations have been consulted during the preparation of the dataset:

- Working Group of the British Association of Gynaecological Pathologists (BAGP) comprising BAGP Council and co-opted members
- British Gynaecological Cancer Society (BGCS)
- British Society for the Study of Vulval Diseases.

2 Clinical information required on the specimen request form

- Full patient details, history and the results of previous biopsies.
- The results of ultrasound combined with fine needle aspiration cytology have been shown to be more accurate than computerised tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) in evaluating nodal involvement.⁴² However, it may be advisable for results to be made available, although these might not be an accurate predictor of involvement.¹² The results of lymphangiography, including dye injections⁴³ and scintillogaphy^{21, 22} are relevant to sentinel node assessment.
- Comprehensive details of the surgical procedure should be provided. It may be useful to use a diagram of the site of operation/biopsy with orientation markings/sutures (Appendix A).
- The details of surgical specimens from multiple sites should be provided.
- Specimen pots should be labelled to correspond to the specimen details on the request form.

3 Preparation of specimen before dissection

The usual surgical procedures for vulval carcinoma are:

- radical vulvectomy and lymph node dissection (with or without sentinel node dissection)
- partial vulvectomy and lymph node dissection (with or without sentinel node dissection)
- radical or partial vulvectomy
- wide local tumour excision
- diagnostic biopsy.

Preparation of radical vulvectomy specimens will depend upon the size of the vulval tumour and the extent of spread. Margins may require painting with ink/dye prior to block taking. A photographic record and/or schematic graphic of the orientated vulval specimen (Appendix A) may be useful. A vulvectomy specimen may be pinned out and fixed before block taking, but this is not essential. It is advisable to request that the surgeons mark the site of previous biopsy with a suture or ink if no gross lesion is visible.

4 Specimen handling and block selection⁴⁴

Specimens may be fixed and pinned out or, if appropriate, sampled fresh. It might be appropriate to map the lesion(s) on a graphic (Appendix A) or photograph. The tumour must be adequately sampled to allow typing, grading and measurement of depth and width.

Blocks should be taken to document:

- distance to epithelial resection margin
- distance to urethral resection margin (if appropriate)
- distance to vaginal resection margin (if appropriate)
- distance to anal resection margin (if appropriate)
- distance to soft tissue (deep) resection margin
- any grossly normal or abnormal epithelium to identify non-neoplastic epithelial diseases (NNED)
- any incidental cysts or other abnormalities.

All lymph nodes should be sampled from each side. The presence of macroscopic involvement of lymph nodes should be recorded, together with the dimensions of involved nodes. The sentinel node is highly predictive for inguinofemoral node involvement with a negative predictive value of 95–100%.²³ Although step sectioning and immunohistochemistry have been performed in some studies,² there is no evidence that ultrastaging is prognostically significant.

The following is advised for all inguinal (including sentinel) nodes.

- each lymph node must be examined histologically
- resected lymph nodes not obviously involved by tumour must be examined in their entirety
- larger nodes may require more than one block
- nodes larger than 5 mm should be blocked out at 2–3 mm intervals cut perpendicular to the long axis
- nodes smaller than 5 mm can be bisected or embedded whole
- only one block is necessary from any grossly involved node
- levels are only required for clarification of suspicious groups of cells.^{23–26}

In departments where the facility for processing of oversize blocks is available, a good overview of the tumour and resection margins can be obtained, but standard blocks of tumours should also be processed, to enable immunohistochemistry or other special stains to be performed more readily should these be required.

The origin/designation of all tissue blocks should be recorded on the pathology report. This is particularly important should the need for internal or external review arise. The reviewer needs to be clear about the origin, relevant resection margin and laterality of each block.

5 Core histological data items

The following information must be recorded:

- tumour type, according to the WHO classification (see section 7).
- tumour differentiation
- tumour size (in at least two dimensions)
- thickness/depth of invasion
- presence or absence of lymphovascular invasion
- status of all resection margins
- minimum tumour free margins
- presence of associated VIN or Paget's disease
- status of resection margins for VIN or Paget's disease
- minimum distance to margins for VIN or Paget's disease
- presence or absence of non-neoplastic epithelial disease
- presence or absence of lymph nodes metastases
- presence of extranodal spread
- whether nodal metastasis is larger than 5 mm.⁵⁸

5.1 Tumour differentiation

Squamous carcinomas should be graded according to a modified version of Broders system as 'well differentiated' (keratinising), 'moderately differentiated' or 'poorly differentiated'.⁴⁵ There is no agreed grading system for adenocarcinoma, but it is suggested that these tumours be graded according to the FIGO system for endometrial adenocarcinomas.⁴⁶

5.2 Maximum horizontal dimension (width of lesion)

Where a tumour involves more than one adjacent block, a third dimension may be calculated from an estimate of the block thickness. A tumour occupying seven or more adjacent blocks may exceed 20 mm, i.e. the carcinoma may be more than FIGO stage I.⁴⁷ The microscopic maximum horizontal dimension should be correlated with the gross measurements.

5.3 Thickness/depth of invasion

The depth of invasion is defined as the measurement from the epithelial-stromal junction of the adjacent most superficial dermal papilla to the deepest point of invasion. Where this is not easily achievable, an estimate can be made by measuring from the surface to the deepest point of invasion and then subtracting the distance from the surface to the epithelial stromal junction of the most superficial dermal papilla. If the lesion is ulcerated, a maximum tumour thickness may be given. It is important to correlate the macroscopic and microscopic measurements to avoid error and to permit measurements of tumours larger than a standard slide. Vascular space involvement, either venous or lymphatic, does not alter the staging.^{48,49}

5.4 Vulval intraepithelial neoplasia⁵⁰

The following features should be recorded for instances of vulval intraepithelial neoplasia:

- VIN-warty, basaloid, mixed (warty/basaloid) type
- grades I, II, III
- VIN-differentiated type this is not graded
- Paget's disease
- assessment of margins
- minimum distance from resection margins, where applicable.

5.5 Non-neoplastic epithelial diseases (NNED)⁵¹

Evidence for the following diseases should be sought, and their presence or absence should be recorded:

- lichen sclerosus
- squamous hyperplasia
- mixed lichen sclerosus and squamous hyperplasia
- lichen planus.

5.6 Nodal involvement

The number of identified and involved nodes at each site must be recorded. Extranodal spread or whether any metastasis is larger than 5 mm may indicate increased risk of local recurrence and must be reported if present.^{13,14, 58}

6 Non-core data items

These may be recorded as a separate comment or within a complementary text report. Such items include the presence of human papillomavirus associated features (koilocytosis, epithelial multinucleation, dyskeratosis, parakeratosis, acanthosis, papillomatosis), inflammatory dermatoses or other benign lesions such as cysts. The presence of a fibromyxoid stromal reaction is reported, in one study, to be an indicator of an adverse prognosis and may be recorded as a separate comment.⁵²

7 WHO classification and SNOMED codes of vulvar epithelial tumours

and related lesions

Squamous lesions

Intraepithelial neoplasia (vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia VIN 3)	80772
Carcinoma in situ	80702
Squamous cell carcinoma	80703
Keratinizing	80713
Nonkeratinizing	80723
Basaloid	80833
Verrucous	80513
Warty (condylomatous)	80513

Others	
Basal cell carcinoma	80903
Glandular lesions	
Paget's disease	85423
Bartholin gland tumours	
Adenocarcinoma	81403
Squamous carcinoma	80703
Adenoid cystic carcinoma	82003
Adenosquamous carcinoma	85603
Transitional cell carcinoma	81203
Small cell carcinoma	80413
Carcinoma of mammary type gland	85003
Adenocarcinoma of Skene gland	81403
Carcinoma of sweat gland origin	84003
Adenocarcinomas of other types	81403

8 Small biopsies⁴⁴

These may be received as fresh or fixed material. Wide local excisions are treated in a similar manner to vulvectomy specimens. Small diagnostic punch biopsies may be taken for confirmation of malignancy and the site must be clearly identified to allow orientation of margins and sampling of the biopsy site in any subsequent vulvectomy specimen.

The biopsy will vary according to the size of the lesion, and range from small punch biopsies that are up to several millimetres long and 2–4 mm diameter, to larger ellipse biopsies of similar size to skin or vulval excisional biopsies. In some institutions, small biopsies may be mounted onto a card.

Careful handling of these specimens is recommended to prevent surface trauma and disruption or loss of surface epithelium. It is important to search the container and the under surface of its lid to ensure that stray fragments of tissue are recovered. Fragments should be counted and embedded as received. Larger pieces are measured individually.

Punch biopsies are bisected if larger than 3 mm and the epithelium is clearly visible for orientation. Ellipse excisions are embedded as received if narrower than 3 mm, and bisected longitudinally if wider.

Wider or larger biopsies with an identifiable lesion are cut in transverse section to include the nearest resection margins. The blocks containing the end slices are noted; these will usually be the first and last blocks in the sequence. It may be appropriate to ink the margins as orientated by the clinician with marking sutures or pinned to a cork board. Identifiable surface lesions are described and measured and the macroscopic distance from the closest margin noted.

9 Frozen sections

Frozen section assessment is not routinely used for the assessment of margins. Frozen sections have been used for the assessment of sentinel nodes intraoperatively in research studies, but this is not currently recommended for routine practice due to sampling and interpretational errors.^{15,24,25,27}

10 Ancillary investigations

Immunohistochemistry has a limited role in diagnosis and prognostication of vulval cancers. For invasive vulval carcinoma, stage remains the most important prognostic factor. Diffuse p16 positivity may indicate an HPV-associated neoplasm. Neither ploidy, retinoblastoma protein (pRb) or p53 are prognostically significant.⁵³ Neither p53 nor Ki67 can determine prognosis in Paget's disease of the vulva.⁵⁴

Immunohistochemistry for broad spectrum cytokeratins, such as AE1/AE3, can reveal micrometastases in up to 23% of inguinal nodes,^{25,55} but not all studies support this,^{24,56} and the prognostic implications of micrometastases have not been established.²

The differential diagnosis of Paget's disease of the vulva includes malignant melanoma. Paget's disease is often positive for CAM 5.2, CEA, EMA and CK7, with variable positivity for CK20 and GCDFP15 (gross cystic disease fluid protein 15). Although Paget cells may contain melanin, they are negative with the melanoma markers HMB45 and S100; melanoma reacts for HMB45 and S100.²⁹ CK20 positivity in Paget's disease, especially if strong and diffuse, suggests metastatic involvement from the colorectum or urinary bladder, although some primary vulval Paget's disease may be positive with these markers. Similarly, positivity for uroplakin suggest urothelial origin.^{8, 57}

11 References

- 1. Toms JR (ed). Cancer Stats Monograph 2004. London, Cancer Research UK. 2004.
- 2. Fox H, Wells M. Recent advances in the pathology of the vulva. *Histopathology* 2003; 42:209–216.
- 3. Carlson JA, Ambros R, Malfetano J, Ross J, Grabowski R, Lamb P, Figge H, Mihm MC Jr. Vulvar lichen sclerosus and squamous cell carcinoma: a cohort, case control, and investigational study with historical perspective; implications for chronic inflammation and sclerosis in the development of neoplasia. *Hum Pathol* 1998;29:932–948.
- 4. Yang B, Hart WR. Vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia of the simplex (differentiated) type: a clinicopathologic study including analysis of HPV and p53 expression. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2000;24:429–441.
- 5. Wilkinson EJ. Normal histology and nomenclature of the vulva, and malignant neoplasms, including VIN. *Dermatol Clin* 1992;10:283–296.
- 6. Jones RR, Spaull J, Gusterson B. The histogenesis of mammary and extramammary Paget's disease. *Histopathology* 1989;14:409–416.
- Olson DJ, Fujimura M, Swanson P, Okagaki T. Immunohistochemical features of Paget's disease of the vulva with and without adenocarcinoma. *Int J Gynecol Pathol* 1991; 10:285–295.
- 8. Goldblum JR, Hart WR. Vulvar Paget's disease: a clinicopathologic and immunohistochemical study of 19 cases. *Am J Surg Pathol* 1997;21:1178–1187.
- 9. Ross MJ, Ehrmann RL. Histologic prognosticators in stage I squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva. *Obstet Gynecol* 1987;70:774–784.
- 10. Rowley KC, Gallion HH, Donaldson ES *et al.* Prognostic factors in early vulvar cancer. *Gynecol Oncol* 1988;31:43–49.
- 11. Wilkinson EJ. Superficially invasive carcinoma of the vulva. *Clin Obstet Gynecol* 1991;34: 651–661.

- 12. Oonk MH, Hollema H, de Hullu JA, van der Zee AG. Prediction of lymph node metastases in vulvar cancer: a review. *Int J Gynecol Cancer* 2006;16:963–971.
- 13. Paladini D, Cross P, Lopes A, Monaghan JM. Prognostic significance of lymph node variables in squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva. *Cancer* 1994;74:2491–2496.
- 14. van der Velden J, van Lindert AC, Lammes FB *et al.* Extracapsular growth of lymph node metastases in squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva. The impact on recurrence and survival. *Cancer* 1995;75:2885–2890.
- 15. Raspagliesi F, Hanozet F, Ditto A, Solima E, Zanaboni F, Vecchione F, Kusamura Clinical and pathological prognostic factors in squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva. *Gynecol Oncol* 2006;102:333–337.
- 16. Staging announcement: FIGO staging of gynaecologic cancers; cervical and vulva. *Int J Gynecol Cancer* 1995;5:319 (see erratum in *Int J Gynecol Cancer* 1995;5:465).
- 17. Figge DC, Tamimi HK, Greer BE. Lymphatic spread in carcinoma of the vulva. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*;152:387–394.
- 18. Gonzalez Bosquet J, Magrina JF, Magtibay PM, Gaffey TA, Cha SS, Jones MB, Podratz KC, Cliby WA. Patterns of inguinal groin metastases in squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva. *Gynecol Oncol* 2007;105:742–746.
- Louis-Sylvestre C, Evangelista E, Leonard F, Itti E, Meignan M, Paniel BJ. Sentinel node localization should be interpreted with caution in midline vulvar cancer. *Gynecol Oncol* 2005; 97:151–154.
- 20. Binder SW, Huang I, Fu YS *et al.* Risk factors for the development of lymph node metastasis in vulval squamous carcinoma. *Gynecol Oncol* 1990;37:9–16.
- 21. De Cicco C, Sideri M, Bartolomei M, Grana C, Cremonesi M, Fiorenza M, Maggioni A, Bocciolone L, Mangioni C, Colombo N, Paganelli G. Sentinel node biopsy in early vulvar cancer. *Br J Cancer* 2000;82:295–299.
- 22. Merisio C, Berretta R, Gualdi M, Pultrone DC, Anfuso S, Agnese G, Aprile C, Mereu L, Salamano S, Tateo S, Melpignano M. Radioguided sentinel lymph node detection in vulvar cancer. *Int J Gynecol Cancer* 2005;15:493–497.
- 23. de Hullu JA, Hollema H, Piers DA, Verheijen RH, van Diest PJ, Mourits MJ, Aalders JG, van Der Zee AG. Sentinel lymph node procedure is highly accurate in squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva. *J Clin Oncol* 2000;18:2811–2816.
- 24. Moore RG, Granai CO, Gajewski W, Gordinier M, Steinhoff MM. Pathologic evaluation of inguinal sentinel lymph nodes in vulvar cancer patients: a comparison of immunohisto-chemical staining versus ultrastaging with hematoxylin and eosin staining. *Gynecol Oncol* 2003;91:378–382.
- 25. Molpus KL, Kelley MC, Johnson JE, Martin WH, Jones HW 3rd. Sentinel lymph node detection and microstaging in vulvar carcinoma. *J Reprod Med* 2001;46:863–869.
- 26. Robison K, Steinhoff MM, Granai CO, Brard L, Gajewski W, Moore RG. Inguinal sentinel node dissection versus standard inguinal node dissection in patients with vulvar cancer: A comparison of the size of metastasis detected in inguinal lymph nodes. *Gynecol Oncol* 2006;101:24–27.
- 27. NHS Breast Screening Programme. *Pathology Reporting of Breast Disease*. NHS Breast Screening Programme publication 58, 2005.
- Magrina JF, Gonzalez-Bosquet J, Weaver AL, Gaffey TA, Leslie KO, Webb MJ, Podratz KC. Squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva stage IA: long-term results. *Gynecol Oncol* 2000; 76:24–27.

- Crawford D, Nimmo M, Clement PB, Thomson T, Benedet JL, Miller D, Gilks CB. Prognostic factors in Paget's disease of the vulva: a study of 21 cases. *Int J Gynecol Pathol* 1999; 18:351–359.
- 30. Herod JJ, Shafi MI, Rollason TP, Jordan JA, Luesley DM. Vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia with superficially invasive carcinoma of the vulva. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1996;103:453–456.
- 31. Jones RW, Sadler L, Grant S, Whineray J, Exeter M, Rowan D. Clinically identifying women with vulvar lichen sclerosus at increased risk of squamous cell carcinoma: a case-control study. *J Reprod Med* 2004;49:808–811.
- 32. Cooper SM, Wojnarowska F. Influence of treatment of erosive lichen planus of the vulva on its prognosis. *Arch Dermatol* 2006;142:289–294.
- 33. Spiryda LB, Fuller AF, Goodman A. Aggressive locally recurrent vulvar cancer: review of cases presented to Massachusetts General Hospital 1990 to present. *Int J Gynecol Cancer* 2005;15:884–889.
- 34. Modesitt SC, Waters AB, Walton L, Fowler WC Jr, Van Le L. Vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia III: occult cancer and the impact of margin status on recurrence. *Obstet Gynecol* 1998; 92:962–966.
- 35. Jones RW, Rowan DM, Stewart AW. Vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia: aspects of the natural history and outcome in 405 women. *Obstet Gynecol* 2005;106:1319–1326.
- 36. Fox J, Buckley CH. Neoplastic disease of the vulva and associated structures. In: *Haines and Taylor Obstetrical and Gynaecological Pathology (5th edition).* Churchill Livingstone, 2003
- 37. de Giorgi V, Salvini C, Massi D, Raspollini MR, Carli P. Vulvar basal cell carcinoma: retrospective study and review of literature. *Gynecol Oncol* 2005;97:192–194.
- 38. Feakins RM, Lowe DG.Basal cell carcinoma of the vulva: a clinicopathologic study of 45 cases. *Int J Gynecol Pathol* 1997;16:319–324.
- 39. Perrone T, Twiggs LB, Adcock LL, Dehner LP.Vulvar basal cell carcinoma: an infrequently metastasizing neoplasm. *Int J Gynecol Pathol* 1987;6:152–165.
- 40. Piura B, Rabinovich A, Dgani R. Basal cell carcinoma of the vulva *J Surg Oncol* 1999; 70:172–176.
- 41. Hoffman MS, Roberts WS, Ruffolo EH. Basal cell carcinoma of the vulva with inguinal lymph node metastases. *Gynecol Oncol* 1988;29:113–119.
- 42. Land R, Herod J, Moskovic E, King M, Sohaib SA, Trott P, Nasiri N, Shepherd JH, Bridges JE, Ind TE, Blake P, Barton DP. Routine computerized tomography scanning, groin ultrasound with or without fine needle aspiration cytology in the surgical management of primary squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva. *Int J Gynecol Cancer* 2006;16:312–317.
- 43. Levenback C, Coleman RL, Burke TW, Bodurka-Bevers D, Wolf JK, Gershenson DM. Intraoperative lymphatic mapping and sentinel node identification with blue dye in patients with vulvar cancer. *Gynecol Oncol* 2001;83:276–281.
- 44. Robboy SJ, Kraus FT, Kurman RJ. Gross description, processing and reporting of gynaecologic and obstetric specimens. In: Kurman RJ (ed). *Blaustein's Pathology of the Female Genital Tract (4th edition).* New York, 2002.
- 45. Broders AC. Squamous cell epithelioma of the skin. A study of 256 cases. *Ann Surg* 2002;73:141–160.
- 46. Working Party of The Royal College of Pathologists and the NHS Cervical Screening Programme. *Histopathology Reporting in Cervical Screening*. NHS Cervical Screening Programme publication 10, 1999.

- 47. Beller U, Sideri M, Maisonneuve P, Benedet JL, Heintz AP, Ngan HY, Pecorelli S, Odicino F, Creasman WT. Carcinoma of the vulva. *J Epidemiol Biostat* 2001;6:155–173.
- 48. Hacker NF, van-der-Velden J. Conservative management of early vulvar cancer. *Cancer* 1993;71:1673–1677.
- 49. Dvoretsky PM, Bonfiglio TA, Helmkamp FH, Ramsey G, Chuang C,Beecham JB. The pathology of superficially invasive, thin vulvar squamous cell carcinoma. *Int J Gynecol Pathol* 1984;3:331–343.
- 50. Wilkinson EJ. Normal histology and nomenclature of the vulva, and malignant neoplasms, including VIN. *Dermatol Clin* 1992; 10:283–296.
- 51. ISSVD classification of vulvar dermatoses, 2006. <u>www.issvd.org</u>
- 52. Ambros RA, Malfetano JH, Mihm MC Jr.Clinicopathologic features of vulvar squamous cell carcinomas exhibiting prominent fibromyxoid stromal response. *Int J Gynecol Pathol* 1996; 15:137–45.
- 53. Lerma E, Matias-Guiu X, Lee SJ, Prat J. Squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva: study of ploidy, HPV, p53, and pRb. *Int J Gynecol Pathol* 1999;18:191–197.
- 54. Ellis PE, Fong LF, Rolfe KJ, Crow JC, Reid WM, Davidson T, MacLean AB, Perrett CW. The role of p53 and Ki67 in Paget's disease of the vulva and the breast. *Gynecol Oncol* 2002; 86:150–156.
- 55. Knopp S, Holm R, Tropà C, Nesland JM. Occult lymph node metastases in early stage vulvar carcinoma patients. *Gynecol Oncol* 2005;99:383–387.
- 56. Leys CM, Hartenbach EM, Hafez GR, Mahvi DM. Screening for occult nodal metastasis in squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva. *Int J Gynecol Pathol* 2000;19:243–247.
- 57. Brown HM, Wilkinson EJ. Uroplakin-III to distinguish primary vulvar Paget disease from Paget disease secondary to urothelial carcinoma. *Hum Pathol* 2002;33:545–548.
- 58. Pecorelli S. Revised FIGO staging for carcinoma of the vulva, cervix, and endometrium. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 2009;105:103–104.
- 59. McCluggage WG, Hirschowitz L, Ganesan R, Kehoe S, Nordin A. Which staging system to use for gynaecological cancers: a survey with recommendation for practice in the UK. *J Clin Pathol* 2010;63;768–770.

10 Acknowledgments

The Council of the British Association of Gynaecological Pathologists.

Professor Michael Wells, author of the 2001 *Minimum Dataset for the Histopathological Reporting of Vulval Cancers*.





Stage I	Tumour confined to the vulva					
Stage I A	Tumour confined to the vulva or perineum, = 2 cm in size with stromal invasion </= 1 mm*, negative nodes</th					
Stage I B	Tumour confined to the vulva or perineum, > 2 cm in size or with stromal invasion >1 mm, negative nodes					
Stage II	Tumour of any size with extension to adjacent perineal structures (1/3 lower urethra, 1/3 lower vagina, anus), negative nodes					
Stage III	Tumour of any size with or without extension to adjacent perineal structures (1/3 lower urethra, 1/3 lower vagina, anus) with positive inguino-femoral lymph nodes					
Stage III A	 (i) 1 lymph node metastasis (>/=5 mm) (ii) 1–2 lymph node metastasis(es) (<5 mm) 					
Stage III B	 (i) 2 or more lymph nodes metastases (>/=5 mm) (ii) 3 or more lymph nodes metastases (<5 mm) 					
Stage III C	Positive nodes with extracapsular spread					
Stage IV	Tumour invades other regional structures (2/3 upper urethra, 2/3 upper vagina), or distant structures					
Stage IV A	 Tumour invades any of the following: (i) upper urethra and/or vaginal mucosa, bladder mucosa, rectal mucosa, or fixed to pelvic bone or (ii) fixed or ulcerated inguino-femoral lymph nodes 					
Stage IV B	Any distant metastasis including pelvic lymph nodes					

FIGO staging of vulval carcinoma

^{*} The depth of invasion is defined as the measurement of the tumour from the epithelial-stromal junction of the adjacent most superficial epithelial papilla to the deepest point of invasion. Vascular space involvement, either venous or lymphatic, does not alter the staging.^{6,7}

Annendix B

Appendix C Reporting proforma for vulval cancer resection specimens

Surname		Forenames		Date of birth			
Hospital		Hospital no		NHS/CHI no			
Date of receipt		Date of repo	ort	Report n	0		
Pathologist		Surgeon					
Nature of vulvector	ny specin	nen					
Radical 🛛	Simple		Anterior C]	Posterior		
Left hemi 🛛	Left nodes	s 🗆	Right hemi E	□ Right nodes □			
3 part with nodes □ Other			Y excision with nodes \Box		Local excisio	on 🗆	
Gross description							
Size of specimen:	Length	mm	Width	mm	Thickness	mm	
Size of tumour:	Length	mm	Width	mm	Thickness	mm	
Site(s) of tumour (ple	ease state)):					
No macroscopic resi	idual tumo	ur: 🗆					
Histology							
Histological type: Squamo		ous (usual) 🛛 🛛 V		/errucous			
Adenoca		arcinoma 🗆 B		3asal cell □			
(For melar		anoma, use a	appropriate sk	kin dataset)			
Other (please specif	y) □						
Histological differentiation: V		Vell □	Moderate	Poo	r 🗆		
Tumour size (for staging):		Maximum horizontal dimension mm					
Т		Thickness/depth of invasion mm					
('		(NB Requires correlation of macro/micro measurements)					
Lymphovascular inva	asion: F	Present 🗆	Absent				
Minimum tumour-fi	ree margii	n					
Skin/epithelial	mm	N/A □		Involved 🗆 (position)o'clock			
Urethral mm		N/A □		Involved			
Vaginal mm		N/A 🗆		Involved			
Anal mm		N/A 🗆		Involved			
Soft tissue	. mm	N/A □		Involved 🗆			
VIN 1 🗆 VI	N 2□	VIN 3 🗆		Differentiated VIN Pag		Paget's □	
VIN or Paget's excis	ed	Yes□		No□			

Minimum margin									
Skin/epithelial mm N/			√/A 🗆			Involved 🗆 (position)o'clock			
Urethral mr	m	N/A			li	nvolved			
Vaginal mi	m	N/A			li	nvolved			
Anal mr	m	N/A			Involved				
Presence of non-neopla	stic e	oithelial dis	sease	e (NNE	D): Ye	es 🗆		No 🗆	
Lichen sclerosus			Lich	nen plar	nus				
Squamous hyperplasia			HP\	/-assoc	ciated	feature	s 🗆		
NNED excised:	Yes		No						
Groin nodes									
Sentinel node, if sent - ((right)	positive ⊏]		Sentir	el node	e, if sent	– (left) p	ositive 🗆
Total number of nodes (right)					Total number of nodes (left)				
Total number of positive	node	s (right) …			Total	number	of posit	ive node	s (left)
Extranodal extension:	Yes		No						
>5 mm metastasis	Yes		No						

Comments/additional information

Provisional FIGO stage	(may change following MDTM discussion).
i i ovisionar i 100 stage	 (may change following mb fin discussion).

SNOMED codes: T..... M.....

Signature......Date...../.....

Appendix D Key changes made to this 2010 edition

Minor revisions are proposed to take into account the recent revision of FIGO staging of vulval cancers.

The changes to the dataset include:

- Replacement of the existing statement in the introduction about TNM and FIGO staging with: "In the past TNM and FIGO staging of gynaecological cancers was recommended to allow standardisation of staging across all cancer sites, but surveys carried out on behalf of the BAGP and BGCS were overwhelmingly in favour of using FIGO staging alone for all gynaecological cancers, except cervical carcinoma."
- 2. Inclusion of the revised FIGO staging system for vulval carcinoma.
- 3. Removal of the TNM staging system of vulval carcinoma from the dataset.
- 4. Modification of the histopathology reporting proforma at the end of the dataset to take into account the revised FIGO staging system.
- 5. Amendment of the document text to take into account a new core data item (nodal metastasis larger than 5 mm); this replaces a previous core data item (>50% of any one node involved by tumour).

Laurence Brown

21 September 2010